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STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

In the District Court, plaintiffs sought declaratory and injunctive relief

barringenforcementof the voting-relatedprovisionsof the "Arizona Taxpayerand

CitizenProtectionAct," a citizens’ initiative that appearedon Arizona’sNovember

2004 general election ballot as Proposition200 and was enactedby the State’s

voters. The Complaint filed by the Inter-Tribal Council of Arizona, Inc., the

Arizona Advocacy Network, the Hopi Tribe, the League of Women Voters of

Arizona, the Leagueof United Latin American Citizens,Peoplefor the American

Way Foundationand StateRepresentativeSteveGallardocollectively,the "ITCA

Plaintiffs" allegedthat Proposition200 violatesthe 14thand24thAmendmentsto

the United States Constitution, the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. §

1971a2A and B, Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act of 1965, 42 U.S.C. §

1973, and the National Voter RegistrationAct, 42 U.S.C. § 1973gget seq. the

"NVRA".’ As such,this casearoseunderthe Constitution,laws, or treatiesof the

United States,andsubjectmatterjurisdiction in the District Courtwasbasedon 28

U S C 1331, 1343a3 and 4, 1361 and 1367a,and 42 U S C 1971d,

Excerptsof Record, Tab 10, Clerk’s Record,Doc. 1 CVO6-01362-PHX-
ROS. Documentscitedhereinandcontainedin theExcerptsof Record"ER" are
cited by ER tab number and Clerk’s Record "CR" number, if any. If the
documentis not includedin the CRfor the leadcase,No. CVO6-01268-PHX-ROS,
thecasenumberis notedin parenthesesfollowing the CRnumber.
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1 973jf and 1983. The District Court had jurisdiction to grant both declaratory

and injunctive reliefunder28 U.S.C. § 2201 and2202.

Following a trial on the mnerits of the claimns remnainingafter entryof partial

sumnmnaryjudgmnentfor defendants,the District Court issuedFindings of Fact and

Conclusions of Law, entered judgmnent for defendants and dismnissed the

Comnplaint.2 This Courthasjurisdictionpursuantto 28 U.S.C. § 1291. This appeal

is fromn a final judgmnentthat disposesof all of the parties’ claimns.

The District Court enteredJudgmnenton August 20, 2008. The ITCA

Plaintiffs filed theirNotice of Appeal on Septemnber19, 2008. Pursuantto Fed. R.

App. P. 4alA, theNotice ofAppealwastimnely filed.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Proposition200 imnposed strict new documnentaryrequiremnentsfor voter

registrationandelectionday voting in Arizona. Arizona residents,who otherwise

are qualified to vote, now mnust producedocumnentaryevidenceof United States

citizenship to register to vote and mnust produce documnentsestablishingtheir

identity to vote at the poTTs on electionday. Theserequiremnentshave a significant

defect - to obtain the documnentsrequiredby Proposition200 and its imnplemnenting

regulations,citizenswho lack themn mnust pay a fee or otherwiseincur a cost. As

2 ER 3, CR 1041;ER2, CR 1042.

3ER2,CR1042.

4ER1,CR1047.

2
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the SupremneCourt recently explained in Crawtbrd v. Mar/on County Elect/on

Board, 128 5. Ct. 1610 2008, requiring voters to purchasedocumnentsnecessary

to cast a ballot mnakespaymnentof a fee an electoralstandard,and constitutesan

unconstitutionalpoTT tax underthe 14thAmnendmnent’sEqualProtectionClauseand

the 24th Amnendmnent. In view of the SupremneCourt’s interveningdecision, this

Court’s pre-Crawtbrd interimn ruling in this casethat Proposition200 does not

imnposea poTT tax, to which the District Court adheredon remnand,should not be

followed asthe law ofthe case.

In imnplemnenting Proposition 200, Arizona election officials refuse to

register individuals who use the Federal Mail Voter Registration Formn the

"FederalFormn" mnandatedby theNVRA, 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-7a2,which does

not call for submnissionof any documnentaryproof of citizenship. Contraryto this

Court’s interimn ruling, again followed by the District Court, the NVRA doesnot

permnit Arizona to add documnentationrequiremnentsto the Federal Formn, or

supplant it altogetherwith the State’s own voter registration formn. Indeed,

Arizona, like all the other statessubjectto the NVRA, mnust "acceptand use"the

FederalFormn as is, without imnposing additional documnentationrequiremnentson

would-beregistrants.42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-4al.

3
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In Tight of this, the presentappealaddresseswhetherthe District Court erred

in granting sumnmnary judgmnent on two of the ITCA Plaintiffs’ claimns. In

particular:

1. Whetherthe District Court erred in concludingthat Proposition200

doesnot imnposea poTT tax in violationof the 14th and24thAmnendmnents;and

2. Whetherthe District Court erredwhen it determninedthat Arizona’s

imnplemnentationof Proposition200 to requirevoter registrationapplicantswho use

the FederalMail Voter RegistrationFormn to submnit documnentaryevidenceof

citizenshipdoesnotviolate theNationalVoter RegistrationAct.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The ITCA Plaintiffs filed their challengesto the voting-relatedprovisionsof

Proposition200 in May 2006 and mnoved for a prelimninary injunction on several

grounds,including that 1 Proposition200 imnposesa poTT tax in violation of the

14th and 24th Amendmnents,2 imnposes an unconstitutionalburden on the

fundamnentalright to vote, and3 is pre-emnptedby the NVRA.D TheDistrict Court

consolidatedthe ITCA Plaintiffs’ casewith casesfiled by Maria Gonzalezand

severalother individuals and organizationsthat servethe Latino comnmnunity the

"GonzalezPlaintiffs" and AgnesLaughterand the Navajo Nation the "Navajo

ER 10, CR 1 CVO6-01362;CR 149.

4
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Plaintiffs".6 The ITCA Plaintiffs, Gonzalez Plaintiffs and Navajo Plaintiffs

collectively, the "Plaintiffs" all sought prelimninary injunctive relief.7 After a

two-dayhearingin Tate August2006,the District Court deniedPlaintiffs’ mnotions,

ruling that Plaintiffs had failed to demnonstratea likelihood of successon the mnerits

andthat thebalanceof equitiestipped in the Defendants’favor.8

After the District Court ruled, the ITCA and GonzalezPlaintiffs promnptly

appealedand filed an Emnergencyand Urgent Motion for Injunction Pending

Appeal. On October5, 2005, this Court grantedthe EmnergencyMotion, and

enjoined imnplemnentationof Proposition200’s voting-relatedprovisions pending

the appeal.9 The Stateand four countiesappealedthat ruling to the United States

SupremneCourt, which vacatedthe Ninth Circuit’s interimn order due to the Tack of

sufficient factual findings and possiblevoter confusion in the Novemnber2006

election. Purcell v. Gonzalez,549 U.S. 1, 5-6 2006. On January8, 2007, after

briefing on the ITCA and Gonzalez Plaintiffs’ appeal, which was Timnited to

Proposition200’s citizenshipdocumnentationrequiremnentfor voterregistration,this

Court heard oral argumnent. On April 20, 2007 this Court issued an Opinion

6CR33;CR142.
‘ CR7; CR 149; CR 2 CVO6-01575.

8ER6,CR 183; ER 5, CR219.

Gonzalezv. Arizona, Nos. 06-16702, 06-16706 9th Cir. Oct. 5, 2006
ordergrantingEmnergencyMotion for InjunctionPendingInterlocutoryAppeal.

5
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affirmning the District Court’s denial of prelimninary injunctive relief, concluding,

inter al/a, that Proposition200’s documnentationrequiremnentfor voter registration

doesnot 1 constitutea poTT tax or 2 violate the NVRA. Gonzalezv. Arizona,

485 F.3d 1041, 1049-50, 1052 9th Cir. 2007.

In June2007,Defendantsmnovedfor partial sumnmnaryjudgmnenton severalof

Plaintiffs’ claimns, including the poTT tax and NVRA claimns.‘° Relying on this

Court’s Opinion affirmning the prelimninary injunction ruling, the District Court

grantedDefendants’Motion for PartialSumnmnaryJudgmnent."

In May 2008, ITCA, the Hopi Tribe and the Navajo Plaintiffs reacheda

settlemnentwith Defendantsconcerningthe formns of tribal identification that the

State will accept at polling places. Consequently,ITCA and the Hopi Tribe

dismnissedtheir claimns related to polling place identification, and the Navajo

Plaintiffs dismnissedtheir Comnplaint.’2

In July 2008, the case proceededto trial on the remnaining issues, in

particular,the claimnsassertingan unconstitutionalburdenon the right to vote and a

‘° CR282.

ER4, CR330.
12 CR 775; CR 776. The Navajo Plaintiffs’ Comnplaint did not include any

claimns concerningthe voter registrationrequiremnents. The other ITCA Plaintiffs
did not dismnisstheir claimnsrelatedto polling place identification,presentingissues
otherthan the formns of tribal identification acceptableat the poTTs on electionday.
In addition, Peoplefor the Amnerican Way Foundationwithdrew as a plaintiff on
April 1, 2008. CR741;CR743.

6
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violation of Section2 of the Voting RightsAct, 42 U.S.C. § 1973. On August20,

2007, the District Court issuedits Findings of Fact and Conclusionsof Law, and

enteredjudgmnentfor Defendantson all of the ITCA Plaintiffs’ remnainingclaimns

and all of the GonzalezPlaintiffs’ claimns.’3

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. Proposition 200.

Heraldedby its proponentsas a mneansto "discourageillegal imnmnigration"

and preventthe State fromn becomninga "safe haven" for illegal imnmnigrantswho

cause "economnic hardship," the Arizona Taxpayer and Citizen Protection Act

"Proposition 200" was approvedby Arizona voters in the Novemnber2, 2004

general election.’4 In Tine with the Proposition’s stated purpose,one section

amnended Arizona law concerning public benefits.1D Despite no evidence

whatsoeverof registration or voting by illegal imnmnigrants, the remnainder of

Proposition200 alteredthreeprovisionsof Arizona law relatedto voting - A.R.S.

§ 16-152, 16-166 and 16579.16 The amnended statutes imnpose onerous

documnentationrequiremnentson those seeking to registerto vote and simnilarly

13 ER3, CR 1041;ER2, CR 1042.
14 ER 3, CR 1041,at 2-3; ER 11, § 2.
1D ER 11, § 6.

‘61d. §3-5.

7
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imnpose onerous identification requiremnentson registrants seeking to vote at a

pollingplaceon electionday.

A. The New RegistrationDocumnentationReguiremnents.

As amnendedby Proposition200, A.R.S. § 16-166F requiresthat "[t]he

County Recorder shall reject any application for registration that is not

accomnpaniedby satisfactoryevidenceof United Statescitizenship."7 The statute

defines"satisfactoryevidenceof citizenship"as:

[1] Arizona Driver’s Licenseor ID IssuedAfter October 1, 1996:
"The numnberof the applicant’sdriver licenseor nonoperating
identification license issued after October 1, 1996 by the
departmnentof transportationor the equivalent governmnental
agencyof anotherstatewithin the United Statesif the agency
indicates on the applicant’s driver license or nonoperating
identification license that the personhas providedsatisfactory
proofofUnited Statescitizenship."

[2] Birth Certificate: "A legible photocopyof the applicant’sbirth
certificate that verifies citizenship to the satisfaction of the
countyrecorder."

[3] Passport: "A legible photocopy of pertinent pages of the
applicant’sUnited Statespassportidentifying the applicantand
the applicant’s passportnumnberor presentationto the county
recorderof the applicant’sUnited Statespassport."

[4] Certificate of Naturalization: "A presentationto the county
recorder of the applicant’s United States naturalization

"‘ Proposition200 also amnendedA.R.S. § 16-152 to specify that Arizona
voter registration formns include "[a] statemnentthat the applicant shall submnit
evidenceof United Statescitizenship with the application,and that the registrar
shall reject the applicationif no evidenceof citizenshipis attached." A.R.S. § 16-
1 52A23.

8
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documnentsor the numnberof the certificate of naturalization.If
only the numnberof the certificateof naturalizationis provided,
the applicantshall notbe included in the registrationrolls until
the numnberof the certificate of naturalizationis verified with
the United Statesimnmnigration andnaturalizationserviceby the
countyrecorder."

[5] IRCA Documnents: "Other documnentsor mnethodsof proofthat
are establishedpursuantto the imnmnigrationreformn and control
act of 1986."

[6] BIA or Tribal Identification: "The applicant’sbureauof Indian
affairs card numnber, tribal treaty card numnber or tribal
enrollmnentnumnber."

A.R. S. § 16-166F"RegistrationDocumnents".’8

A.R.S. § 16-166F,as amnendedby Proposition200, was preclearedby the

United StatesDepartmnentof Justicepursuantto Section 5 of the Voting Rights

Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1973c, and took effect on Jammary 25, 2005.’ After that date,

every personwho registersto vote for the first timne mnust provide either 1 a

numnberfromn, 2 a copy of or 3 an actualRegistrationDocumnentto the County

Recorder. Thosewho registeredto vote in Arizona beforeJanuary25, 2005 need

18 In practice, severalof the RegistrationDocumnentsspecifiedin A.R.S. §
16-166F cannot be used. No other state indicateson the face of its driver or
nonoperatingidentification licenseswhetherthe holder hasprovided"satisfactory
proof of United Statescitizenship." ER 12, at 19:19-21:4. Nor have therebeen
any documnents"establishedpursuantto [IRCA]." ER 13, at 79:19-24. Finally,
two of the enumneratedformns for Native Amnericans- BIA CardsandTribal Treaty
Cards- do notexist. ER 14, at 474:19-475:11;ER 15, at 4.

19 ER 3, CR 1041,at 3; ER 16, at 648:3-7.

9
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not provide a Registration Documnent unless re-registeringin anotherArizona

county. A.R.S. § 16-166G.

No provision of Proposition 200 permnits waiver of the Registration

Documnentsrequiremnentfor any reason. DefendantArizona Secretaryof Statehas

instructed elections officials of all fifteen Arizona counties to reject voter

registrationformns submnittedwithouta RegistrationDocumnent.2°

In particular, the Arizona Secretaryof State has applied the Registration

Documnentrequiremnentto the FederalFormn prescribedby the NVRA.2’ In March

2006, the Election Assistance Comnmnission the "EAC", the federal agency

responsiblefor imnplemnentingthe NVRA, informned the Secretaryof State that

Arizona mnay not "condition acceptanceof the FederalFormn upon receipt of

additional proof’ of citizenship.22 Despite the EAC’s clear statemnent that

Arizona’s applicationof the RegistrationDocumnentrequiremnentto FederalFormn

registrations"would effectively result in a refusalto acceptanduse the Federal.

Formn in violation of [fiederal law," the State has mnade no exception to the

RegistrationDocumnentrequiremnent.2

20ER17, at 1; seealso A.R.S. § 16-152.
21 ER 17, at 1.
22 ER 18, at 3.

2Id. at 1.

10
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B. Polling PlaceIdentificationReguiremnents.

A.R.S. § 16-579A,as amnendedby Proposition200, requiresvoterscasting

theirballotsat a polling placeon electiondayto "presentone formn of identification

that bearsthe namne,addressand photographof the electoror two different formns

of identification that bear the namne and addressof the elector" "Polling Place

ID". Voters seekingto cast a ballot at their polling placeon electionday cannot

obtaina waiver ofthe Polling PlaceID requiremnentfor any reason.24

Becausethe law doesnot specifythe acceptableformns of Polling PlaceID,

the Arizona Secretary of State has promnulgated a "Procedure for Proof of

Identificationat the Polls" the "Polling PlaceProcedures"or the Procedures.2D

Underthe Procedures,votersare provideda regularballot if they presenteitherone

documnent that includes their photograph, namne and current address,or two

documnentsthat contain their namne and current addressbut Tack a photograph.

The acceptableformns of photo identification are: 1 a valid Arizona driver’s

license, 2 a valid Arizona nonoperatingidentification license, 3 a tribal

enrollmnentcard or other formn of tribal identification or 4 a valid United States

federal, state or local governmnent-issuedidentification.26 Acceptable formns of

non-photoidentificationare: 1 a utility bill for electric,gas, water, solid waste,

24 ER 19, at 748:16-749:5,750:24-751:4;ER 20.
2D SeeER 21.

26Seeid. at 128.

11
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sewer, telephone,cellular phone or cable television that is datedwithin ninety

daysof the dateof the election,2 a bankor credit union statemnentthat is dated

within ninety days of the date of the election, 3 a valid Arizona Vehicle

Registration,4 an Indiancensuscard,5 a propertytax statemnentfor the voter’s

residence,6 a tribal enrollmnentcard or other formn of tribal identification, 7 a

Recorder’s Certificate or 8 a valid United States federal, state, or local

governmnentissuedidentification, includinga voter registrationcard issuedby the

countyrecorder.27

The Polling PlaceProcedurespermnit countiesto add other formns of Polling

Place ID that "establish the identity of the elector in accordancewith the

requiremnentsof A.R.S. § 16-579A."28 Somne,but not all, Arizona countieshave

added"Official ElectionMail" sent by the county, addressedto individual voters,

to the list of acceptablenon-photoidentification.29

Voters who cannot present sufficient Polling Place ID receive either a

regularprovisionalballot or a conditional provisionalballot. If the voter’sPolling

PlaceID Tacks a currentaddress,has a namnedifferent fromn the namnethat appears

in the precinct registeror has a photographthat doesnot reasonablyappearto be

the voter, but otherwisecomnplieswith the Procedures,the voter receivesa regular

27 Id.

281d.
29 ER 19, at 748:16-749:5,750:24-751:4;ER 20.
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provisionalballot.30 If the voterhas no acceptablePolling PlaceID, or only one

formn of non-photo ID, the voter receives a conditional provisional ballot.3’

Regularprovisional ballots are countedif electionofficials are able to mnatch the

voter’s signature on the provisional ballot to the signature on the voter’s

registrationformn. Conditionalprovisionalballots,however,are not countedunless

thevoterappearsbeforecounty electionsofficials within a few daysof the election

andprovidessufficientPolling PlaceID.32

The Departmnentof Justicepreclearedthe Polling Place Proceduresunder

Section 5 of the Voting RightsAct, 42 U.S.C. § 1973c,and they went into effect

on Septemnber6, 2005. The Procedureswere imnplemnentedbeginningwith local

electionsin March 2006. The Septemnber2006 primnary election was the first

statewide election in which elections officials applied the Polling Place ID

° 21, at 131.
31 Id. at 127-28.

32Seeid. at 129-31, 135-36.

ER 13, at 18:9-24,52:1-15. As notedabove,the Polling PlaceProcedures
were amnendedpursuantto a May 2008 settlemnentagreemnentin this caseto expand
the typesof tribal identification documnentsthat constituteacceptablePolling Place
ID. The amnendedProceduresreceivedSection 5 preclearancefromn the Justice
Departmnenton May 22, 2008. ER 3, CR 1041, at 5; ER 22.

34E.g., ER 12, at 73 :23-74:2.
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requiremnent.35 All voters who vote at a polling place on election day mnust now

comnplywith the Polling PlaceID requiremnent. A.R.S. § 16-579A.

II. PersonsEligible to Vote in Arizona Who Do Not PossessA Registration
Document or Polling PlaceID Are Forced to Pay to Obtain the
DocumentsNecessaryto Registerand Vote.

A. PersonsLackingRegistrationDocumnentsMustPay a FeeRanging
FromnFour Dollars to $380.

As the District Court recognized,"[i]t is undisputedthat somne individuals

will have to obtain a formn of identification" to registerto vote.36 In otherwords,

theDistrict Court found that thereare Arizonanswho satisfyall statequalifications

to vote, but who do not possessany of the RegistrationDocumnentsspecified in

A.R.S. § 16-166F. In order for theseindividuals to registerand vote, they mnust

obtainone of the enumneratedRegistrationDocumnents,which they mnayneedfor no

otherpurpose.

The District Court also recognizedthat, exceptfor a few narrow categories

of individuals, Arizonans cannot obtain any of the alternative Registration

Documnentswithout paying a fee, and therefore cannot registerto vote without

paying a fee.37 The feesassociatedwith RegistrationDocumnentsrangefromn four

Cf ER23, at 68:10-69:19.

6ER5,CR219,at9.

Id.; ER 3, CR 1041,at 8-11. Certainindividuals are eligible to obtain an
Arizona nonoperator’s identification licensewithout paying a fee, but mnust still
provide at least one "primnary" documnent,which includes a birth certificate,
passportor certificate of naturalization or citizenship, /. e. other Registration

14

Case: 08-17094   01/07/2009   Page: 24 of 60    ID: 6759254   DktEntry: 11



dollars for a replacemnentArizona driver’s licenseor nonoperator’s identification

card,to $380 for a replacemnentCertificateofNaturalization.38

B. ThoseWho LackPolling PlaceID Must Payto ObtainIt.

The District Court found that 4,194ballots castduring the 2006 primnary and

generalelectionsand the 2008 Presidentialpreferenceelection were uncounted

becausethe voters did not provide Polling Place ID.39 To obtain the necessary

Polling PlaceID so that their ballots are countedin the next election,thosevoters

mnust pay a fee. The formns of photo identification that are acceptableas Polling

Place ID and are generally available - the Arizona driver’s or nonoperating

identificationlicenses- costbetweenfour dollars and $25.40 Voterswithoutphoto

Polling Place ID mnust present two formns of non-photo Polling Place ID.

Excluding voter registration cards, "Official Election Mail" addressedto an

individual voter and somne formns of identification issued by somne tribal

governmnents,non-photoPolling Place ID cannotbe obtainedwithout paymnentof

Documnentsthat are not free. ER 24. In addition, though somneArizona Indian
tribes provide free tribal enrollmnent cards, not all tribes issue such cards, or
provide themn for free. ER 15, at 4; ER 25, at 15-18; seealso ER 26, at 112:21-

113:9SupaiTribe doesnot issueidentification.
38 ER 3, CR 1041, at 8-11. Fees for other RegistrationDocumnentsare as

follows: Arizona driver’s license - $l0-25, depending on age; Arizona
nonoperatingidentificationlicense- $12;Arizona birth certificate- $10; andU.S.
passport-$l00.Id.

39Id. at 15.
40 Seesupranote 37.
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1 a fee for the identification itself, 2 the purchaseprice of propertysuchas an

automnobileor house,or 3 a servicesuchas a bankaccount,automnobileinsurance

or utility service.4’

Imnportantly, the law doesnot require Arizona election officials to provide

free formns of Polling Place ID. Thoughthe law requirescountiesto provide free

voter registrationcards, they are not requiredby law to send "Official Election

Mail" individually addressedto any registeredvoter, andnot all countiesdo so.42

Indeed,mnost Arizona countiesdo not sendOfficial Election Mail to "inactive"

registeredvoters.43 For the 2008 generalelection,MaricopaCounty,where mnore

than 50 percentof Arizona voters reside,did not sendOfficial ElectionMail that

could be usedas Polling Place ID.44 In short, the law provides no free Polling

PlaceID to Arizonanswho mnust acquiresuchdocumnentsto be allowed to cast a

ballotat the poTTs on electionday.

41SeeER2l,at128.
42 SeeER 12, at 57:5-17;ER 13, at 139:1-3; ER 19, at 748:22-749:5;ER 20

Timniting Polling Place ID to "those specifically noted in the Manuel [sic]"; ER
23, at 62:4-63:8,63:25-64:10;ER 27, at 21:23-21:25;ER 28, at 23:4-18;ER 29, at
32:15-32:25;ER 30.

SeeER 12, at 50:2-50:4, 57:2-57:9; ER 23, at 59:21-60:18;ER 26, at
111:12-111:20.

ER 31; seealso ER 32, at 83:20-84:11,86:1-86:4 discussingcost of
sendingsamnpleballots to individual voters andpotential for not doing so in 2008
to mneet County-mnandatedbudgetreduction; ER 33, at 108:16-109:10Yavapai
County mnay not sendofficial election mnail in 2008, and did not do so for the
February5, 2008 PresidentialPreferenceElection.
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STANDARD OF REVIEW

The District Court grantedpartial sumnmnaryjudgmnentfor defendantson the

poTT tax andNVRA claimns. Accordingly, this Court’s review of theseissuesis de

novo, applying the samnestandardusedby the trial court underFed. R. Civ. P.

56c. E.g., Delta Say. Bankv. Un/tedStates,265 F.3d 1017, 1021 9th Cir. 2000.

ARGUMENT SUMMARY

The District Court’s grantof sumnmnaryjudgmnenton the poTT tax andNVRA

claimns should be reversed. This Court’s decision at the prelimninary injunction

stagein this case,that Proposition200 doesnot constitutea poTT tax, conflicts with

interveningcontrolling authority andwas clearly erroneous. The SupremneCourt

hasbroadly held that any requiremnentthat a voter pay a fee as a prerequisiteto

voting in a state or federal election violates the 14th and 24th Amnendmnents.

Harper v. Virgin/a StateBd. ofElections,383 U.S. 663, 666 1966 stateelections

- 14th Amnendmnent;Harrnan v. Forssen/us,380 U.S. 528, 544 1965 federal

elections- 24thAmnendmnent. Moreover,afterthis Court’s interimn decisionin this

case,the SupremneCourt issuedits opinionin Crawtbrdv. Mar/on CountyElect/on

Board, 128 5. Ct. 1610 2008,reiteratingthe breadthof the constitutionalban on

poTT taxes, and emnphasizingthat any state law that requiresvoters to purchase

documnentsto vote is an unconstitutionalpoTT tax. Seeid. at 1620-21. There is no

disputethat somneArizonansTack RegistrationDocumnentsor Polling PlaceID and
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mnust pay a fee or its equivalentto exercisetheir right to vote. Accordingly, by

puttinga price tag on the right to vote,Proposition 200 violatesthe Constitution.

This Court’s previous ruling concluding that Proposition 200 does not

violate the NVRA is clearly erroneous. The NVRA specifically providesthat all

states mnust "acceptand use" the FederalFormn for voter registrationfor federal

elections. 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-4al. The FederalFormn requiresapplicantsto

sign andavowunderpenaltyof perjurythat the applicantis a United Statescitizen,

but doesnot require registrantsto possessor presentany additional documnents.

By conditioning acceptanceof the FederalFormn on productionof supplemnental

informnation,Arizona is not "accept[ing]andus[ing]" the FederalFormn as required

by the NVRA. Id. BecauseProposition200’s additional registrationrequiremnents

directly contradictthe NVRA, federal law preemnptsthemn in connectionwith the

FederalFormn.

18

Case: 08-17094   01/07/2009   Page: 28 of 60    ID: 6759254   DktEntry: 11



ARGUMENT

I. The Fourteenth Amendment’s Equal Protection Clause and the Twenty-
fourth Amendment Prohibit Arizona from Requiring that Qualified
Voters Pay to Obtain a Registration Document or Polling PlaceID.

A. The ConstitutionProhibits States fromn Requiring Voters to Pay a
Feeof Any Kind for the Privilegeof Exercisingthe Franchise.

The 24thAmnendmnentto the United StatesConstitutionabsolutelyprohibits

requiring paymnentof any tax as a preconditionto exercisingthe right to vote in

federalelections:

The right of citizens of the United Statesto vote in any primnary or
other election for President or Vice President, for electors for
President or Vice President, or for Senator or Representativein
Congress,shall notbe deniedor abridgedby the United Statesor any
stateby reasonof failure to pay anypoll tax or othertax.

U.S. Const. amnend. XXIV, § 1 emnphasis added. Shortly after the 1964

ratification of the 24th Amnendmnent,the SupremneCourt held that Virginia’s poTT

tax schemnefor federal electionswas unconstitutional. Harrnan, 380 U.S. at 544

1965 striking down a systemnthat requiredeither paymnentof a $1.50 poTT tax or

filing a certificateof residencein lieu of paymnentof the tax. The Court reviewed

the 24th Amendmnent’s legislative history, and noted that "[o]ne of the basic

objectionsto the poTT tax wasthat it exacteda price for the privilege of exercising

the franchise." Id. at 539. Even thoughthe poTT taxesin effect beforethe 24th

Amnendmnentwere smnall, and imnposed only "a slight economnical obstacle"for

voters, Congress recognized that exacting any fee for voting Ted to
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"disenfranchisemnentof the poor." Id. Furthermnore,a poTT tax violates the 24th

Amnendmnent"regardlessof the serviceit performns,"sincethe Amnendmnent"was .

designedto absolveall requiremnentsimnpairing the right to vote in federalelections

by reasonof failure to pay the poTT tax." Id. at 544.

The following year, the Court again took up Virginia’s poTT tax, this timne

with respect to state elections, and held that the 14th Amendmnent’s Equal

ProtectionClausebarredimnposition of a poTT tax for stateelectionsas well. See

Harper, 383 U.S. at 666.4D The Court explainedthat "a Stateviolates the Equal

ProtectionClauseof the FourteenthAmnendmnentwheneverit mnakesthe affluence

of the voter or paymnentof any te an electoral standard."Id. at 666 emnphasis

added.Becausethe Virginia poTT tax mnadean irrelevant factor - paymnentof a tax,

howeversmnall - a voterqualification, it "invidiously discrimninate[d]." Id. at 666,

668.

For the next 40 years, the Court said little aboutthe poTT tax until its recent

opinion in Craw,fbrd. The Craw,fbrdcaseinvolved a pre-enforcemnentchallengeto

Indiana’svoter identificationlaw. 128 5. Ct. at 1613-14. The Indianalaw requires

all voters who wish to cast a ballot at the poTTs on election day to present

Unlike the poTT tax schemnefor federal electionsinvalidated in Harman,
which included an option to file a "certificate of residence"in lieu of paying the
poTT tax, Virginia requiredall voters in state electionsto pay a $1.50 poTT tax.
Harper, 383 U.S. at 665 n.1.
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governmnentissuedphoto identification.46 Id. at 1613. Notably, Indianaprovides

"free photo identification to qualified voters able to establishtheir residenceand

identity." Id. at 1614. Indeed,the State took the affirmnative step, as part of the

law enactingthe photo identification requiremnent,to alterstatelaw to providefor

free identification. Id. at 16 n.4.

The Court upheld the Indiana law, but emnphasizedthat had the statenot

providedfor free the documnentnecessaryto casta ballot, the Indianalaw would be

unconstitutional. Id. at 1620-21. As the Court explained,"[t]he fact that mnost

voters alreadypossessa valid driver’s license,or somne other formn of acceptable

identification, would not savethe statuteunder[the Court’s] reasoningin Harper,

if the State required voters to pay a tax or a fee to obtain a new photo

identification." Id.

The Crawtbrd decisionmnaterially clarifies the effect of the constitutional

ban on poTT taxeson Arizona’s simnilar, though even mnore onerous,law. Indeed,

46 The Indianaphoto identification requiremnentdoesnot apply to absentee
voting by mnail. Crawtbrd, 128 5. Ct. at 1613. The law also exceptsthose living
andvoting in state-licensedfacilities suchasnursinghomnes. Id. Indigentvotersor
those with a religious objection to being photographedmnay cast a provisional
ballot that will be countedif they submnit an "appropriateaffidavit" to election
officials within 10 daysfollowing the election. Id. at 1613-14.
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Crawtbrd demnonstratesthat Proposition200 imnposesa poTT tax in violation of the

14thand24thAmnendmnents.

B. SupremneCourt PrecedentClearly Establishesthat Proposition200
ImnposesanUnconstitutionalPoll Tax.

1. Without the Benefit of Crawford, this Court Previously
Concludedthat the RegistrationDocumentRequirementDoes
Not Constitutea Poll Tax.

Before the SupremneCourt’s decisionin Crawtbrd, this Court affirmned the

District Court’s denial of a prelimninary injunction, concludingin its interimn ruling

that the RegistrationDocumnentrequiremnentis not an unconstitutionalpoTT tax.

Gonzalezv. Arizona, 485 F.3d 1041, 1049 9th Cir. 2007 "Gonzalez1". On

Justice Stevensannouncedthe judgmnent of the Court in Craw,fbrd, and
wasjoined in a plurality opinionby ChiefJusticeRobertsandJusticeKemmedy. Id.
at 1613. None of the otherJusticesdisagreedwith the plurality’s analysisof the
poTT tax issue, and all recognizedthe constitutional significance of Indiana’s
decisionto mnakethe requisitedocumnentationavailablefor free. JusticeScalia,in a
concurring opinion joined by JusticesThomnas and Alito, stressedthat Indiana’s
photo identification mnay be obtainedfor free in arguingthat the burdensimnposed
by the Indiana law are not constitutionally significant and noted the Supremne
Court’s special concern,shown in Harper and other decisions,with voting laws
that require the paymnentof a fee. Id. at 1625, 1626 n.*, 1627. JusticeSouter,in a
dissentingopinion joined by Justice Ginsburg, argued that even with Indiana’s
provision of free photo identification, other economnic burdensimnposed by the
Indianaschemneviolate the rule establishedin Harper. Id. at 1643. JusticeBreyer,
in a separatedissent, agreedwith Justice Souter’sanalysis of this issue. Id. at
1644.
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remnand, the District Court grantedsumnmnaryjudgmnent on the poTT tax claimn,

relyingentirelyon the GonzalezI decision.48

In GonzalezI, this Court explainedits conclusionthat Proposition200 does

not imnposea poTT tax as follows:

Arizona’s new law, however, is not like the systemn found
unconstitutionalin Harman [which] . . . requiredvoters to pay a poTT
tax, but allowedthosewho were unwilling or unableto pay the tax to
file a certificateof residency. .

Here, voters do not have to choosebetweenpaying a poTT tax
andproviding proof of citizenship whenthey registerto vote. They
have only to provide the proof of citizenship. Nor doesArizona’s
new law "mnake[ ] the affluenceof the voter or paymnentof any fee an
electoralstandard."

Id. at 1049 quoting Harper, 383 U.S. at 666 alterationin original. In other

words, in Gonzalez I, this Court viewed Arizona’s Registration Documnent

requiremnentas akin to the Virginia certificateof residency,not the Virginia poTT

tax, regardlessof whethersomneArizona citizensTack RegistrationDocumnentsand

mnustpay a fee to obtainthat documnentationin orderto registerto vote. Arizona’s

48 ER 4, CR 330, at 3. In post-trial briefing, the ITCA Plaintiffs requested
that the District Court reconsiderits grant of sumnmnaryjudgmnenton the poTT tax
claimn in Tight of Craw,fbrd. CR 1024, at 16-17. The District Court briefly re
visited the poTT tax issue,noting the SupremneCourt’s Crawtbrd decision,but held
againthat it wasbound by this Court’s earlier poTT tax ruling. ER 3, CR1041, at
33.
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pre-registrationfee did not constitutea poTT tax because,accordingto the Gonzalez

I opinion, the fee wasnot "an electoralstandard."49

2. This Court’s PreviousRuling ShouldNot Be Followedas Law
of the Case Becauseit Conflicts with InterveningControlling
AuthorityandIs Clearly Erroneous.

It is generallyappropriateto follow an earlierappellateruling in the samne

case. However, the discretionary"law of the case" doctrine does not require

affirmnanceof the District Court’s sumnmnaryjudgmnentruling, which was basedon

this Court’s GonzalezI decision. SeeMilgard Tempering,Inc. v. Se/asCorp. of

Am., 902 F.2d 703, 715 9th Cir. 1990 noting that a District Court judge has

discretionnot to follow the law of the case. The prior decisionshould not be

followed when "1 the decision is clearly erroneousand its enforcemnentwould

work a mnanifest injustice, 2 intervening controlling authority mnakes

reconsiderationappropriate,or 3 substantiallydifferent evidencewas adducedat

a subsequenttrial." Hegler v. Borg, 50 F.3d 1472, 1475 9th Cir. 1995.

Consequently,this Court should revisit the poTT tax issue becausethe Supremne

Court’s intervening opinion in Craw,fbrd demnonstratesthat the previous rulings

were clear error. See id.; Milgard, 902 F.2d at 715 statingthat a court "properly

exercisesits discretionto reconsideran issuepreviously decided . . . [if] the first

Neither this Court, in GonzalezI, nor the District Court, in its sumnmnary
judgmnent ruling or in the post-trial Findings of Fact and Conclusionsof Law,
specifically addressedwhetherthe Polling PlaceID requiremnentalso constitutesa
poTT tax.
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decision was clearly erroneous . . . [or] an intervening changein the law has

occurred". Moreover, the "law of the case" applies only to issues"decided

explicitly or by necessaryimnplication in the previousdisposition." Milgard, 902

F.2d at 715. This Court has not yet consideredwhether the Polling Place ID

requiremnentconstitutesa poTT tax.DO

In Tight of the SupremneCourt’s recent decision in Craw,fbrd, this Court’s

conclusionin GonzalezI that Arizona’s voting-relateddocumnentationrequiremnents

are not a poTT tax, should be disregarded. More specifically, Crawtbrd mnakesit

clear that the fees requiredby Arizona to obtain RegistrationDocumnents,and the

fees or other cost involved to obtain Polling Place ID, are indeed an electoral

standard. Accordingly,Proposition200’s documnentationrequiremnentsmnay not be

analogizedto the Virginia certificate of residencyreviewed in Harman, and

representanunconstitutionalpoTT tax.

First, Indiana’s "no fee" provision for obtaining photo identification -

addressedin Craw,fbrd- haspreciselythe samnerelationshipto voting asthe feesin

Arizona for obtaining a RegistrationDocumnent and Polling Place ID. In both

states,the "no fee" or fee is directly attachedto documnentsneededby a citizen to

exercisethe electoralfranchise.

DO This Court’s ruling in Gonzalez I, related only to the Registration
Documnentsrequiremnent,and did not addressthe Polling Place ID requiremnent.
485 F.3d at 1046-47.
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Second,as explainedin Crawtbrd the "no fee" provisionin Indianaclearly

wasan electoralstandard,given that the imnpositionof a fee would have mnadethe

Indianaphoto identification requiremnentan unconstitutionalpoTT tax. Thus, the

SupremneCourt in Craw,fbrd mnade explicit what was at least imnplicit in Harper

regarding the breadth of the constitutional prohibition on poTT taxes: the

prohibition extendsnot only to fees which themnselvesmnust be paid in order to

vote, but also includesany requiremnentthat a fee be paid to obtain a documnent,

which in turn is neededto registeror to vote in-personon electionday.

Third, to registerand vote, Arizonans who Tack the necessarydocumnents

mnust purchasethemn - the law doesnot provide any cost-freeway to registeror

obtain a ballot on election day to those who Tack RegistrationDocumnentsor

Polling Place ID. The District Court found that "[o]btaining proper formns of

identification for purposesof registeringto vote will costpotential votersbetween

10 and 100 dollars" and "it is undisputedthat somneindividuals will haveto obtain

a formn of identification" to register to vote.Dl After trial, the District Court

recognizedthat costs for RegistrationDocumnentscanactuallybe ashigh as$380*D2

The District Court did not mnake any specific findings concerningthe costs

of Polling Place ID. However, the Tower court found that two formns of Polling

D ERS, CR219,at9.
D2ER3 CR1041 at 10.
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PlaceID - the Arizona driver’s licenseor non-operator’sidentification license-

rangein cost fromn $4 for a replacemnentcard, to $25 for a driver’s license if the

driver is under40 yearsold.D3

Only one formn of PollingPlaceID is availableto all votersfree of charge- a

voter registrationcard.D4 BecauseArizona voter registrationcards do not bear a

photographof the voter, however,this formn of free ID alonewill not allow a voter

to casta ballot on electionday. SeeA.R.S. § 16-579A requiring two formns of

non-photoID. The trial court correctly acknowledgedthat electionsofficials are

not requiredto providevoterswith any otherformn of free Polling PlaceID.

Consequently,the only way to obtain sufficient RegistrationDocumnentsor

Polling PlaceID is to pay for themn. UnderProposition200, a personwho Tacks a

RegistrationDocumnent cannot register to vote and a personwho Tacks Polling

PlaceID cannotcasta ballot in personon electiondaythat is counted. As such,for

thosewho Tack a RegistrationDocumnentor Polling PlaceID in Arizona, paymnent

of a fee to obtain thosedocumnentsis an electoralstandard. SeeCraw,fbrd, 128 5.

53Id. at8.

54SeeER2l,at128.

ER 3, CR 1041, at 7. Thoughsomnecountiesacceptanotherformn of free
non-photoPolling Place ID - "Official ElectionMail," the law doesnot require
countiesto provide such ID to voters. Indeed,as the District Court recognized,
budgetaryconstraintsmnay prohibit countiesfromn mnailing such identification to
voters, as they did for the 2008 generalelection for mnore than half of the state’s
voters. ER31;ER32,at83:20-84:ll,86:l-4;ER33,atlO8:16-109:l0.
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Ct. at 1620-21; CommonCauseGa. v. Billups, 406 F. Supp.2d 1326, 1369 N.D.

Ga. 2005 "Billups r’ "[R]equiring. . . voters to purchasea Photo ID card

effectively placesa cost on the right to vote" and"runs afoul of the Twenty-fourth

Amnendmnentfor federalelectionsandviolatesthe EqualProtectionClausefor State

andmnunicipalelections.".56

Here, it is undisputedthat somneArizonansTack the documnentsnecessaryto

registeror vote. For theseindividuals, Crawtbrd mnakesclear that the Statemnust,

at a mninimnumn,provide a cost-freeway to exercisethe franchise,as is providedin

Indianaand Georgia. One practical - andnecessary- step after Craw,fbrdwould

be to mnakethe Arizona nonoperator’sidentification license- a documnentthat can

be botha RegistrationDocumnentandPolling PlaceID - availablefor free to those

who otherwiseTack thenecessarydocumnents.

56 The successiveopinionsof the GeorgiaDistrict Court in the Billups cases
are instructive. In 2005,the court held that requiringvotersto purchasea photoID
cardto casttheir vote imnposeda poTT tax. Billups I, 406 F. Supp.2d at 1369. After
the Georgialegislaturechangedthe law to mnake the voterphoto ID availablefor
free, the court concludedthat the poTT tax problemn had been cured. Common
CauseGa. v. Billups, 439 F. Supp. 2d 1294, 1305, 1355 N.D. Ga. 2006. After
trial on the mnerits, the amnendedGeorgia ID requiremnentwas upheld. Common
CauseGa. v. Billups, 504 F. Supp.2d 1333, 1382-83 N.D. Ga. 2007. The caseis
on appeal,where plaintiffs contendthe requiremnentimnposesan undueburdenon
voters, but the poTT tax issue was resolvedby the provision of free photo ID.
Youngv. Billups, No. 07-146641 ith Cir..
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3. Even if Some, But Not All, Arizonans Must Pay a Fee to
Registeror Vote, Proposition200 Imposesan Unconstitutional
Poll Tax.

A systemnlike Arizona’s that imnposesfees on voter registrationor voting at

the poTTs is unconstitutional,regardlessof whetherall voters or only a few mnust

pay the fee. In Craw,fbrd, the Court was concernednot with all voters, but with

"personswho are eligible to vote but do not possessa currentphoto identification

that comnplieswith the requiremnentsof [Indiana law]." 128 5. Ct. at 1620. The

Tower court had estimnatedthat around43,000 Indianavoters Tacked the required

photo ID. But the proportionately smnall numnberof voters without ID did not

mnatter to the SupremneCourt. The Court statedthat "[t]he fact that mnost voters

already possessa valid driver’s license, or somne other formn of acceptable

identification, would not savethe statuteunder our reasoningin Harper . . .

Id. at 1620-21.

Indeed,while "poTT tax" oncemneant a "head" tax levied on eachpersonin a

jurisdiction, the 24th Amnendmnentclearly appliesto any tax that mnany people or

just one mnust pay in orderto vote - "[t]he right of citizensof the United Statesto

vote . . . shall not be deniedor abridgedby the United Statesor any Stateby reason

of failure to pay any poTT tax or other tax." U.S. Const. amnend.XXIV emnphasis

added; see United Statesv. Texas, 252 F. Supp. 234, 238 W.D. Tex. 1966.

Simnilarly, the 14th Amnendmnentrendersunconstitutionalthe imnpositionof a fee as
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a prerequisiteto voting, regardlessof the numnberof voters who are subjectto the

fee. SeeCraw,fbrd, 128 5. Ct. at 1620; Un itedStatesv. Texas,252 F. Supp. at 252

noting that only "a portion of thosequalified" to vote were subjectto the poTT tax

at issue,and holding it unconstitutional;United Statesv. Alabama,252 F. Supp.

95, 97 M.D. Ala. 1966striking down poTT tax that appliedonly to 21 to 45-year-

olds and exemnptedmnost mnilitary veterans;Weinschenkv. State,200 5.W.3d 201,

213-14Mo. 2006 "[A]TT feesthat imnposefinancial burdenson eligible citizens’

right to vote,notmnerelypoTT taxes,are imnpermnissibleunderfederallaw.".

4. Regardlessof Whether Proposition 200 Servesa Legitimate
StateInterest,Exacting a Fee qfAny Kind in Exchange,for the
Right to VoteIs Impermissible.

Even if Proposition 200’s Registration Documnent and Polling Place ID

requiremnentsserve a Tegitimnate state interest, the costs they imnpose are simnply

imnpermnissible. In Harman , the SupremneCourt held that a "poTT tax, regardlessof

the service it performns,was abolishedby the Twenty-fourthAmnendmnent." 380

U.S. at 544 rejectingthe poTT tax eventhoughVirginia contendedthat it servedas

a reliable indicator of residence,a voter qualification. Simnilarly, "althoughthe

State’sjustification [in Harper] for the tax wasrational, it wasinvidious becauseit

was irrelevant to the voter’s qualifications." Crawtbrd, 128 U.S. at 1616; see

Harper, 383 U.S. at 674 Black, J., dissentinglisting "1 the state’sdesireto

collect its revemme, and 2 its belief that voters who pay a poTT tax will be
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interestedin furthering the state’swelfare when they vote," as the state’srational

reasonsfor its poTT tax, which the mnajority did not find sufficient to savethe poTT

tax; cf UnitedMine Workers, Dist. 12 v. Illinois StateBar Ass‘n, 389 U.S. 217,

222 1967 stating that "laws which actually affect the exerciseof [fundamnental

constitutional]rightscannotbe sustainedmnerelybecausethey . . . providea helpful

mneansof dealingwith . . . anevil [within a state’slegislativecomnpetence]".

Accordingly, although Arizona’s interest in assuringthe qualifications of

votersis a valid interest,including a fee as partof the structureto imnplemnentthat

state interest is irrelevant to voters’ qualifications and is imnpermnissible. See

Harper, 383 U.S. at 670; cf Dunn v. Blumstein, 405 U.S. 330, 345-46 1972

recognizingthat assuringvoters were state residentswas a valid interest,but a

durational residencyrequiremnentwas unconstitutionalbecauseit excludedbona

fide residentsfromn voting.

II. Proposition 200’s Demand for Additional Documentary Evidence of
Citizenship Violates the NVRA.

A. The Previous Rulings that Arizona "Accept[sl and Use[sl" the
FederalMail Voter RegistrationFormn Requiredby the NVRA Are
ClearlyErroneous.

The principal NVRA issue in this case is whether Arizona can invoke

Proposition200 to reject voter registrationapplicationsusing the FederalMail

Voter RegistrationFormn issuedby the Election AssistanceComnmnission- which

the NVRA specifically requiresthat Arizona "shall acceptand use." 42 U.S.C. §
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l973gg-4al.7 Despiterecognizingthe natureof the NVRA claimn beforeit,58

theDistrict Court failedto analyzedirectly the claimn that Arizona wasviolating the

specific textual directiveof the NVRA to "acceptanduse"the FederalFormn.9 Id.

Instead,the District Court looked to 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-7b,which prescribesthe

contents of the Federal Formn to be developed by the Election Assistance

Comnmnission.6°Moreover,the court imnproperly inferredCongressionalintent fromn

the absenceof languagein the NVRA, but ignored incontrovertible legislative

historythat establishesa contrary intent. The District Court’s failure to recognize

the NVRA’s grant of authority to the EAC, and the concomnitantTimnits on the

State’sauthoritywere clear legalerror.

The Court further noted that "Plaintiffs explicitly state that the issue
currentlybeforethe court is Arizona’s refusalto acceptthe jderal formn." ER 7,
CR68,at4.

58 The District Court also noted "[i]n Plaintiffs’ view, once an individual
has fully and accuratelycomnpletedthe federal mnail registrationformn, he or she
should be registeredto vote; the state mnay not condition registrationon any
additional requiremnentsor actionsnot specifically set forth in the statute." ER 7,
CR68, at 7. This linkage of what is "set forth in the statute"with conditionssetby
the Stateon acceptanceanduseof the federalformn constitutesthe District Court’s
basicanalyticalerror.

The District Court’s orderdenyingPlaintiffs’ Applicationsfor Temnporary
RestrainingOrder containsthe only extendedanalysisof the NVRA issuesin this
case. The Order granting sumnmnaryjudgmnentprovidesno additional analysisof
42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-4al.

60 ER 7, CR68, at 7-12.
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B. Congress Has Preemnpted Somne State Regulation of Voter
Registrationby Enactingthe NVRA.

CongressenactedtheNVRA to increasethe numnberof registeredvoters. 42

U.S.C. § 1973ggbl. A key comnponentof the NVRA wasthe developmnentand

imnplemnentationof the FederalMail Voter RegistrationFormn, a uniformn postcard

voter registrationapplication that mnust be "accept[ed] and use[d]" by all states

subjectto the NVRA to registervoters for federalelections. 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-

4al.6’ Becausethe Statehastakenthe position that Proposition200 requiresit

to demnandthat a registrantsubmnit RegistrationDocumnentswith the FederalFormn

and rejects all applicationsthat are not accomnpaniedby RegistrationDocumnents,

Arizona is not "accept[ing] and us[ing]" the FederalFormn as the NVRA’s plain

languagerequires. Id. This prevents Arizonans fromn taking advantageof a

federal law mneant to provide a "uniformn" and simnple mneansof registeringto vote

for federalelections,and the State is in violation of the NVRA. See S. Rep. No.

103-6, at 11 1993 discussing a "uniformn" and "universal mnail registration

formn".

The ElectionsClause,U.S. Const. art I, § 4, cT. 1, givesCongress"thepower

to overridestateregulations"with uniformn rules for federal elections,binding on

61 Six states,Idaho, Minnesota,North Dakota,New Hamnpshire,Wisconsin
and Wyomning, are not requiredto comnply with the NVRA becausethey had
electionday registrationor no voterregistrationrequiremnentas of August 1, 1994.
42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-2aandb.
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the states. US. Term Limits, Inc. v. Thornton, 514 U.S. 779, 833-34 1995; Ex

parte Siebold,100 U.S. 371, 384 1879 "[T]he regulationsmnadeby Congressare

paramnountto thosemnadeby the Statelegislature;andif they conflict therewith,the

Tatter, so far as the conflict extends,ceasesto be operative.". Congressretains

comnpletesupervisorypoweroverstatemnechanismnsaffecting federalelections,and

mnay supplemnentor evensupersedethemn altogether. SeeSiebold,100 U.S. at 384

"When exercised,the action of Congress,so far as it extendsand conflicts with

the regulationsof the State,necessarilysupersedesthemn."; Foster v. Love, 522

U.S. 67, 69 1997 finding well-settled Congressional"power to override state

regulations’ by establishinguniformn rules for federal elections, binding on the

States"citation omnitted.

By enacting the NVRA, Congress sought to imnplemnent a un/tbrm

nationwide systemnof voter registrationto help "increasethe numnberof eligible

citizenswho registerto vote," anderadicatediscrimninatoryand unfair registration

practicesthat dimninish voter turnout. 42 U.S.C. § 1973gga,bl. Proposition

200’s unique requiremnentthat registrantsprovide RegistrationDocumnentshas Ted

to the rejection of voter registrationapplicationsfromn mnore than 31,550 people,

two-thirds of whomn havenot successfullyre-registered.62Becausethe additional

registrationrequiremnentsimnposedby Proposition200 conflict with the letterand

62 ER 3, CR 1041,at 13-14.
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the purposeof the NVRA, they are pre-emnpted. See Charles IL WesleyEduc.

Found., Inc. v. Cox, 408 F.3d 1349, 1355 11th Cir. 2005statingthat statestatute

concerningvoterregistration"would haveto give way to the clear mnandatesof the

NVRA" if it conflictedwith the federallaw.

C. The State’s Ability to DemnandRegistrationDocumnentsUnder the
NVRA Is Circumnscribedby the EAC’s Authority to Develop the
FederalFormn.

The District Courtbeganits NVRA analysisby invoking the primnacyof the

statutoryplain language.63 It framnedthe analysisaroundthe questionof "whether

theNVRA requiremnentsact as a ceiling or asa floor" on what statesmnay require.64

But the District Court establishedno justification for this "ceiling or floor"

analysis,andundertheplain directive languageof 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-4al,the

"ceiling or floor" inquiry is irrelevant to whether Arizona is "accept[ing] and

us[ing]" the FederalFormn. In other words, the NVRA doesnot seta standardby

which to mneasurethe FederalFormn, but ratherrequiresstates,including Arizona,

to acceptthe FederalFormn thatwasactuallyadopted.

Despiteits supposedrelianceon the plain languageof the statute,the District

Court ignoredan imnportantaspectof the text - the allocationof power amnongthe

EAC and the states. The court cited 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-7bl as permnitting

63 ER7, CR68,at 6.

641d. at8.
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states to require informnation to "determnine eligibility."65 For purposesof the

FederalFormn,however,that sectionsets paramnetersfor the EAC, not the states. It

is the EAC, not the states,to which the statutecomnmnitsthe rulemnakingauthorityas

to the classesof informnation that are required for the FederalFormn. While the

statesplay a consultativerole, they mnay not add requiremnentsonce the EAC has

promnulgatedthe FederalFormn and its state-by-stateinstructions. By allowing the

Stateto addnew requiremnents,the District Court clearlyerred.

Congressgrantedthe FederalElection Comnmnissionand laterthe EAC the

power to "develop a mnail voter registrationapplication formn for elections for

Federaloffice." 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-7a2. While the NVRA directsthe EAC

to consultwith the "chief electionofficers of the States,"the EAC - and the EAC

alone - is chargedwith creatingthe FederalFormn. 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-7a2.

The District Court thereforefundamnentallyerred by arrogatingto the statesthe

EAC’s rulemnakingauthority, and the District Court’s conclusionthat "Arizona’s

proof of citizenship requiremnentdoesnot conflict with the plain languageof the

NVRA," is inextricablypremnisedupon that error.66

Oncethe EAC has consultedwith the statesand createdthe FederalFormn

and its instructions,the NVRA doesnot permnit the states to deviate fromn the

6ER7,CR68,at8-9.

661d. at9.
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FederalFormn. They mnust "acceptanduse"that formn. 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-4al.

Indeed,allowing statesto mnodify the formn or addto its contentswould undermnine

theuniformn nationwideregistrationsystemncreatedby the postcardformn.

Here, the EAC has developedthe FederalFormn. Neither the Formn nor its

state-specificinstructionsinclude Arizona’s RegistrationDocumnentrequiremnent.67

As such, the contents of the FederalFormn reflect the EAC’s judgmnent that

RegistrationDocumnentsare not "necessaryto enable . . . electionofficial[s] to

assessthe eligibility of the applicant." 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-7bl.68

D. The NVRA’s Plain LanguageProhibits the State fromn Demnanding
RegistrationDocumnentsin Connectionwith the FederalFormn.

1. ArizonaMustAcceptand Use the FederalForm.

Once the EAC has consultedwith the statesand promnulgatedthe Federal

Formn and instructions,the Statemnust "acceptanduse"that FederalFormn as is. 42

U.S.C. § 1973gg-4al. Useandacceptanceof the FederalFormn are mnandatory.

42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-4al-2. "Accept and use" mneansexactly what it says -

67 In responseto the EAC’s requestfor updatesto the FederalFormn, the
Arizona Secretaryof Staterequestedthat the EAC amnendthe Arizona portion of
the instructionsto include the RegistrationDocumnentRequiremnent,but the EAC
declinedto do so. SeeER 18.

68 Indeed, as demnonstratedby the evidence below, the Registration
Documnent requiremnent does not enable election officials to establish voter
eligibility. For examnple,the mnost comnmnonlyusedRegistrationDocumnent - the
Arizona driver’s license - doesnot establishU.S. citizenship. ER 34, at 12:24-
13:17; seealso Ariz. Op. Atty. Gen. No. 105-001, at 3 2005 "[A] personneed
not be a United Statescitizen to obtain an Arizona driver licenseor identification
card,evenafter October1, 1996.".
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that states mnust take in and processFederalFormns when they are comnpleted,

submnittedandthe informnationprovidedon the tbrm demnonstrateseligibility.

Moreover,the statuteplainly requiresthat even if statesdevelop their own

formn, they mnust still acceptanduse the FederalFormn too. 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-

4a2 "In addition to acceptingand using the [Federal Form], a State mnay

developanduse a mnail voterregistrationformn that mneetsall of the criteria statedin

section 1973gg-7b . .
. ." emnphasisadded. The states are not given the

alternative of using their own formn to the exclusion of the Federal Formn.

Consequently,this Court’s statemnentto the contrary in GonzalezI is clearly

erroneouswith respectto Arizona’s treatmnentof the FederalFormn andshould not

control here. See 485 F.3d at 1050;cf Milgard, 902 F.2d at 715.

2. The District Court’s Focus on Irrelevant Provisions of the
NT’RALedto its ErroneousConclusion.

The District Court notedthat the NVRA requiresstatesto providenotice of

the dispositionof eachregistrationapplication. 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-6a2.Fromn

this the court found support for the idea that the FederalFormn "simnpliciter, mnay

notbe enough."69 This sectionof the NVRA mnerelyrecognizesthat somneFederal

Formn registration applications mnay be rejected, whether because they are

incomnplete,or becausethe informnationprovideddemnonstratesineligibility on the

part of the applicant. It cammot possibly justify the wholesalerejection of duly

69ER7,CR68,at10.
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comnpletedFederalFormns that federal law requiresthe State to "acceptand use."

42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-4al.

The District Court thenwent on to analyzethe termn "formnal authentication"

as used mn 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-7b3. The Dmstrmct Court read the statutory

prohibition on "authentication"as applying only to the registrationformn itself, and

not to the underlyingqualificationsof the voter. Even if this readingis correct, it

only canapply to the questionof whetherArizona’s own registrationformns violate

the NVRA. It doesnot provide a justification for Arizona to reject the Federal

Formn.

The remnainderof the District Court’s NVRA analysis focused upon the

propositionthat the NVRA does not regulate voter qualifications.7’ Here, the

District Court mnistakenlytreatedProposition200 asgoverningeligibility to vote in

Arizona. Proposition 200 did not amnendthe State Constitution to restrict the

franchiseonly to thosecitizenswho canprovidedocumnentaryproof of citizenship.

UnderProposition200, mnillions of existing registeredvoterswere "grandfathered

in," exemnpt fromn the RegistrationDocumnentrequiremnentat least until they re

registerin anothercounty. Eligibility to vote in Arizona remnainsin relevantpart

determninedby one’s statusas a citizen. Proposition200 imnposed a procedural

701d. at 10-12.
‘ Id. at 12-13.
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hurdle for the class of new registrationapplicantswhich, basedupon personal

circumnstance,mnay or mnay not easily be satisfied. But the FederalFormn fully

respectsthe definition of votereligibility in Arizona’s constitution.

E. The NVRA’s Legislative History Makes it Abundantly Clear that
CongressDid Not Intend to Allow States to Require Additional
Documnentationof Citizenship as a Condition to Accepting the
FederalFormn.

1. AnyAmbiguityin the NVRA is ProperlyResolvedby Detrring
to the ImplementingAgency‘s Intei’pretationof the Statute.

The District Courtobservedthat "Congressdid not specificallybarany other

type of informnationbeing requiredfor registration,"andnotedthat Congresscould

have, but did not bar any requiremnent that individuals provide proof of

citizenship.72 The District Court thus attemnptedto infer Congress’ intent, while

simnultaneouslyrejectingthe unamnbiguouslegislativehistory with regardto proof

of citizenship requiremnents. If the District Court found it necessaryto consider

Congress’ intent by looking beyond what is in the text of the statute, then the

legislativehistoryshouldalsohavebeenconsidered.73

As the District Court recognized,the NVRA does not expresslyspecify

whetheror not a statemnay requirevoters to prove they are United Statescitizens

by providing documnentaryevidenceof their citizenshipstatus. Arizona’s previous

72 ER 7, CR68,at 11-12.

SeeER 7, CR 68, at 6 & n.6 rejectingan analysisof legislative history
becausePlaintiffs hadnot establishedthe statute’samnbiguity.
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Secretaryof State took the position that the NVRA prohibits the State fromn

inquiring into the citizenship status of those who have registered to vote.74

DefendantBrewer,on the otherhand,contendsthat theNVRA permnitsthe Stateto

demnanddocumnentaryevidenceof citizenship fromn all applicants.75 As such, the

NVRA arguably is amnbiguous with respect to whether a state mnay require

registrantsto provide proof of citizenship. SeeDeGeorge v. United StatesDist.

Court, 219 F.3d 930, 939-40 9th Cir. 2005 "A statuteis amnbiguousif it gives

rise to mnore than one reasonableinterpretation.". Consequently,to resolveany

such amnbiguity, this Court shouldTook to theNVRA’s purpose,legislativehistory

and admninistrative interpretationsby the Federal Elections Comnmnission the

"FEC" and the EAC. SeeCmty. BankofAriz. v. G. VM Trust, 366 F.3d 982, 986

9th Cir. 2004 a court "mnustconsiderthe purpose,subjectmnatter,the contextand

the legislativehistory" of an amnbiguousstatuteand"grant a degreeof deferenceto

the interpretation of an admninistrative agency charged with imnplemnentingthe

statute"alterationsandcitationsomnitted.

745eeER 13, at 151:2-11.

751d. at 151:18-152:4.
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2. The NVRA ‘s LegislativeHistory and Agency Interpretations
Prohibit Application of Proposition 200‘s Registration
Document Requirement to Federal Form Registrations.

The NVRA’s legislativehistorymakes clearCongressionalintent to prohibit

states from requiring supplementalevidenceof citizenship. The minority in

Congressthat opposedthe NVRA did so in part because its mail registration

provisions prohibit states from requiring an applicant to provide proof of

citizenshipin additionto the information required by the FederalForm. SeeS.

Rep. No. 103-6, at 53 statingthat votingby non-citizens‘might be combatedby

requiring proof of citizenship at the time of registration. ... mail registration

under this bill would precludesuch correctiveaction". Indeed, Congresscould

not havebeenmoreclear that requiringanapplicantfor voter registrationto submit

documentary evidenceof citizenship conflicts with the NVRA. Congress’ Joint

ExplsmsitoryStatementofthe Committee of Conferencestates:

Section13. Rule ofConstruction

Housebill

No provision.

Senateamendment

Providesthat nothing in this Act shall prevent a Statefrom requiring
presentationof documentationrelating to citizenshipof an applicant
for voterregistration.

Conferencesubstitute
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The confereesagree with the House bill and do not include this
provision fromn the Senate amnendmnent. It is not necessaryor
consistent with the purposes of this Act. Furthermnore, there is
concernthat it couldbe interpretedby Statesto permit registration
requirementsthat could etjctively eliminate, or seriously intertre
with, the mail registrationprogram of the Act. It couldalso adversely

atjct the administrationof theotherregistrationprogramsas well. In
addition, it createsconfusion with regard to the relationship qf this
Act to the Voting Rights Act. Exceptfor this provision, this Act has
beencarefully draftedto assurethat it would not supersede,restrictor
limnit the applicationof the Voting Rights Act. Theseconcernslead
the confereesto concludethat this sectionshouldbedeleted.

H.R. Rep.No. 103-66,at 23 1993 emnphasisadded.

Becausethe "statuteis silent . . . with respectto the specific issue"a court

mnustdeferto the imnplemnentingagency’sinterpretationofthe statutesolong as it is

basedon a "permnissibleconstructionof the statute." Chevron, US.A., Inc. v.

Natural ResourcesDef Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837, 843 1984. As such, this

Court mnust rely on the FEC’s andEAC’s interpretationsof the NVRA, which bar

addingdocumnentaryproofof citizenshiprequiremnentsto theFederalFormn.

Consistentwith the languageof the NVRA and its legislative history, the

EAC has concludedthat the State mnay not "condition acceptanceof the Federal

Formn uponreceipt of additionalproof," and that refusalto acceptthe FederalFormn

without documnentary evidence of citizenship violates the NVRA.76 After

76 ER 18, at 3; seealso 59 Fed. Reg. 32,311, 32,316 June23, 1994 FEC
statemnentexplaining that "[t]he issue of U.S. citizenship is addressedwithin the
oath required by the [NVRA] and signed by the applicant under penalty of
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Proposition200 becamneeffective,Defendantsrequestedthat the EAC "apply proof

of citizenship requiremnentsfor Arizona voter registration to the FederalFormn

registrationprocess."77 But the EAC concluded"that the policies you propose

would effectively result in a refusal to acceptand use the Federal . . . Formn in

violation of [fiederal law 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-4a."78 The EAC further

informned Defendants that "[t]he Federal Formn sets the proof required to

demnonstratevoterqualification. No statemnay condition acceptanceof the Federal

Formnupon receiptof additionalproof"79

The EAC’s conclusion is entitled to this Court’s deference. The Help

Amnerica Vote Act andthe NVRA expresslygrant theEAC authorityto "issuerules

and promnulgateregulations"relatedto the FederalFormn and"provide informnation

to the Stateswith respectto the responsibilitiesof the Statesunder[the NVRA]."

42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-7a4,15329 confining the EAC’s rulemnakingauthorityto

its duties under § 1973gg-7a; see Fed. Election Comm‘n v. Democratic

Senatorial Campaign Comm., 454 U.S. 27, 45 1981 deferring to the FEC’s

interpretationof the FederalElection CamnpaignAct; Cmty. Bank of Ariz., 366

perjury," and rejecting inclusion of naturalizationinformnation with the Federal
Formn.

77ER18,at 1.
78 Id.

79Id. at3.
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F.3d at 987 relying on statutory interpretationin agency’s interpretive letters.

The EAC interpretsthe NVRA to bar application of Proposition200’s proof of

citizenship requiremnentsto FederalFormn registrations. Accordingly, this Court

shoulddo the samne.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons,the District Court’s grant of sumnmnaryjudgmnent

on the ITCA Plaintiffs’ poTT tax and NVRA claimns should be reversed,and

enforcemnentof Proposition200 shouldbe enjoined.

RESPECTFULLYSUBMITTED this 5th day of January,2009.
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STATEMENT OF RELATED CASES

Pursuantto this Court’s Novemnber 5, 2008 Order, this appeal has been

consolidatedwith Ninth Circuit CauseNo. 08-17094for purposesof calendaring.
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I hereby certify that on the 5th day of January,2009, I electronicallyfiled

the OpeningBrief of Appellantsthe Inter Tribal Council of Arizona, et aT. with the

Clerk of the Court for the United StatesCourt of Appealsfor the Ninth Circuit by

usingthe appellateCMIECF systemn.

Participantsin the casewho are registeredCMIECF userswill be servedby

theappellateCMIECF systemn.

I further certify that somne of the participantsin the caseare not registered

CMIECF users. I have mnailed a copy of the OpeningBrief and one copy of the

Excerptsof Recordof Appellants the Inter Tribal Council of Arizona, et aT. by

First-ClassMail, postageprepaid,to the following non-CMIECFparticipants:

AndrewP. Thomnas
MaricopaCountyAttorney
M. ColleenConnor
MCAO Division of CountyCounsel
222 N. CentralAvenue,Suite 1100
Phoenix,Arizona 85003

Demmis I. Wilenchik
KathleenRapp
Wilenchik andBartness,P.C.
The Wilenchik & BartnessBuilding
2810 N. Third Street
Phoenix,AZ 85004

Attorneys for Apache, Cochise, Gila, Graham, Greenlee, La Paz,
Maricopa, Mohave, Pima, Santa Cruz, Yavapai, and Yuma County
Defendants/Appellees
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CoconinoCountyAttorney
JeanE. Wilcox
DeputyCountyAttorney
110 EastCherryAvenue
Flagstaff,Arizona 86001

Attorney for Coconino County Defendants/Appellees

JamnesP. Walsh
PinalCountyAttorney
Chris M. Roll
Nicole Weber
30 NorthFlorenceStreet,Bldg. D
Florence,Arizona 85232

Attorneys for Pinal County Defendants/Appellees

In addition,I certify that pursuantto Fed. R. App. P. 25d andRule 4a2

of the AdmninistrativeOrderRegardingElectronicFiling in All Ninth Circuit Cases

11/10/08,on the 5th day of January,2009,four copiesof the Excerptsof Record

were sentby FederalExpressto:

Office of the Clerk
United StatesCourt of Appealsfor theNinth Circuit
95 SeventhStreet
SanFrancisco,California 94103-1526

I further certify that on the 5th day of January,2009, I mnailed one copy of

the Excerptsof Recordby First-ClassMail, postageprepaid, to the following

CMIECF participants:
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Nina Perales
DiegoBernal
MexicanAmnericanLegalDefense

andEducationalFund
Suite 300
110 Broadway
SanAntonio, Texas 78205

Attorneys for GonzalezPlaintiffs/Appellants

MaryR. O’Grady
BarbaraA. Bailey
CarrieJ. Brennan
Office of the ArizonaAttorneyGeneral
1275 WestWashingtonStreet
Phoenix,Arizona 85007

Attorneys for State Defendants/Appellees

Melvin R. Bowers,Jr.
Navajo CountyAttorney
LanceB. Payette
P.O.Box668
Holbrook,Arizona 86025

Attorneys for Navajo County Defendants/Appellees

s/ KarenJ. Hartmnan-TeTTez
KarenJ. Hartmnan-TeTTez
Attorneyfor ITCA Appellants
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